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1. Name of Property

historic name Pillsbury Memorial Hall

other names/site number Sutton Town Hall

2. Location

street & number _ 93 Main Street [ not for publication N/A
city or town Sutton [] vicinity N/A
state New Hampshire =~ code_NH _ county _ Merrimack _ code 013  zip code _03260

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this B nomination
] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
B meets [] does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

[ nationally [] statewide Il locally. (] See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

W&b{ d /(/L{,Lajj_-—- January 28, 1993

Signature of certifying bfficial/Title Date

NEW HAMPSHIRE
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property ] meets [ does not meet the National Reagister criteria. (D See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

| hereby centify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper anter o #Date of Action
L[Q{ntered in the National Register sl }/j #ationsl Eﬁ&‘ By /
(] See continuation sheet. N\ Le (/“""L'//“‘Z/ L e — X3

[ determined eligible for the
National Register
[l see continuation sheet.

[J determined not eligible for the
National Register.

(] removed from the National
Register.

] other, (explain:)




Pillsbury Memorial Hall
Name of Property

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
[] private K] building(s)
Xl public-local ] district
[J public-State ] site
(] public-Federal [ structure
[ object

Name of related multiple property listing

(Enter “‘N/A" if property is not part of a muitiple property listing.) -

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
1 0 buildings
0 0 sites
0 0 structures
0 0 objects
1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

GOVERNMENT: city hall

i3

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

GOVERNMENT: city hall

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

_Romanesque .

Narrative Description

Materials

(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Granite

walls  Brick
Weatherboard

roof Slate

other Wood

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Pillsbury Memorial Hall, the town hall of the Town of Sutton, New Hampshire,
stands in its original location on its own small lot on the south side of Main
Street in the village of Sutton. The brick building is best described as Richard-
sonian Romanesque in style. The rectangular, hip roofed main block is set perpen-
cicular to the street. Most of the main block is one story high above a basement,
as it is occupied by the tall, large town hall auditorium. But, at the north (street)
end, the main block is divided into two stories. Projecting from the northwest
corner of the main block is a circular, two story tower with a conical roof.
Covering the entire north (street) facade of the main block to the east of the
tower and extending along its east side facade a short distance is an open porch.
The brick porch, with its large semicircular arched openings, is covered by a
gable roof, whose northerly slope is continuous with the main block's hip roof, and
which features a cross gable roof above the entry steps on the north side. The
main block, tower, and porch, all original parts of the building, share a high
granite block foundation, brick walls, and slate roofs. On the rear (south) end
of the main block is the wooden framed, one story, shed roofed rear addition. On
the main block's west facade is a small, short, gable roofed basement entry, whose
concrete walls are covered by a brick veneer. Save for the addition of the rear
addition and the basement entry, the exterior of the building has been little
changed. Although the basement has been extensively altered, the other original
changes have seen only minor changes. Pillsbury Memorial Hall therefore retains

its integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and
association.

The main block, tower, and porch are all set on a high foundation of two courses
of large, rock faced granite blocks, with the upper blocks topped by a smooth water-
table. The brick walls of the three original parts of the building are all laid in
common bond, flemish variation. Save on the north facade, where the north slope of
the hip roof continues into the porch roof, the main block has wide wooden eaves,
ornamented by mouldings, a frieze, and beaded boarding on the sloping soffit. The
main block's slate covered hip roof is trimmed with copper ridge mouldings.

The western third of the north street facade of the main block is occupied by
the circular tower. The rest of the north facade is sheltered by the porch, which
covers the main block foundation. Directly to the east of the tower is the building's
main entry, wide double doors, each leaf having six horizontal panels. The doors
share their simply moulded trim with a large, two pane transom window. They are
flanked by large, two pane, three-quarter sidelights, each set above a simply
moulded square wooden panel. The entry and sidelights share a simply moulded outer
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frame, a smooth granite sill, and a rock faced granite lintel. To the east of the
entry, two inscribed polished granite blocks are set flush into the brick wall. The
larger upper block is inscribed "Erected by John Sargent Pillsbury '/ A.D. 1891 /
And Presented to the Town of Sutton / His Birthplace / In Memory of His Parents /
John and Susan Wadleigh Pillsbury.' The lower block is inscribed ''Built By /
Freeman A. Fisher / A Native of Sutton.'" To the east of the granite blocks is a

4/4 sash window with simply moulded wooden frame, rock faced granite sill and lintel,
and modern vinyl storm window. Between the window and the east corner of the wall
is found the town's World War I memorial. The rectangular bronze plague is labeled
"Honor Roll / 1917-1919" at the top. The main inscription "Erected by the / Town of
Sutton / In Honor of Men / Who Served in / World War" and the list of the World War
I soldiers and sailors is enclosed in a Tudor arch. The plague is also ornamented
by American shields, crossed flags, stars, and foliage. '

A small northerly part of the main block's east facade is covered by the porch.
This section contains another 4/4 sash window, like the window on the north facade,
with granite sill and lintel, and a vinyl storm window. To the south of the porch,
the granite block foundation is fully exposed. The foundation contains three basement
windows with plain wooden frames and vinyl storm windows. The north and central

-windows have two panes, the south window three panes. The central basment window is
shorter than its two companions. Just south of the porch in the main level is the
building's side entry, a wooden door with a large builtin window and three simply
moulded horizontal panels. The door has a simple wooden frame, smooth granite sill,
and rock faced granite lintel. It is served by four steps built of rock faced granite
blocks. To the south of the side entry are seven tall windows, each with 4/4 sash,

a two pane transom window, and the same simply moulded frame , rockfaced granite

sill and lintel seen on the already described windows. The windows are not evenly
spaced.

Another seven tall windows of the same design as the eastern facade windows are
found in the main level of the west facade. Again, the seven windows are irregularly
spaced. Between the second and third windows from the south, a plain exterior brick
chimney rises through the eaves. The chimney has a simple concrete cap and a small
cricket with slate covered slopes and metal ridge flashing. The west wall has four
basement openings in its foundation, all with simply moulded wooden frames. In the
north opening is a wooden louver covered by wire mesh. The next opening to the south
is a two pane window, also covered by wire mesh. A three pane window with vinyl
storm window occupies the third opening from the north, which is shorter than the
other three openings. The southerly opening contains a metal louver, flanked by
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wooden panels and covered by wire mesh. (The short basement entry is found between
the two central basement windows. The brick veneer walls of the small entry are laid
in stretcher bond. The entry's low pitched, asphalt shingled gable roof is trimmed
by a plain wooden box cornice with friezes on the lateral sides and at the lower
corners of the gable. The entry's only opening is a plain wooden door with simply
moulded wooden frame and concrete sill in the west gable end.) The rear (south) wall
of the main block has no openings, being largely covered by the rear addition.

The most prominent feature of the building is the two story circular tower at
the northwest corner of the main block. The tower's high granite foundation is
visible on over half the circumference of the tower, but is not continued to the
east of the granite sidewall for the entry steps. (The sidewall projects from the
northerly side of the tower.) The tower's brick walls are ornamented by four rock
faced granite string courses that also serve as the sills-and lintels of the tower
windows. Only the uppermost string course is continued around the rear (south) side
of the tower to the east of the exterior chimeny projecting from the southgest side
of the tower. The steep, slate covered, conical roof is ornamented by a wooden
cornice with dentils and mouldings and is topped by a copper pinnacle, which is
octagonal in shape, with a bulbous top and a narrow waist.

On the north front of the tower's first story is a large smooth granite block
in the shape of a shield, which is inscribed "Pillsbury / Memorial / Hall". The
first story has two 4/4 sash windows, with simply moulded frames and vinyl storm
windows. One first story window is found on the northeast side and is sheltered by
the porch, while the other window is found on the northwest side. The second story
has three 1/1 sash windows with simply moulded frames and vinyl storm windows,
located on the northeast, north, and northwest sides of the tower. Projecting from
the southwest side of the tower is a broad exterior brick chimney. Its rectangular
base is composed, like the tower foundation, of two courses of rock faced granite
blocks with smooth watertable. The tall brick chimney is ornamented by a simple
concrete cap, and by rectangular panels inset into its sides just below the cap,
two panels each on the broad southwest and northeast sides, one panel each on the
narrow northwest and southeast ends.

The porch is L-shaped in plan, as it extends east from the tower along the north
facade of the main block, wraps around the northeast corner of the main block, and
extends a short distance down the east side of the main block. The south wall of -
the southerly extension is a solid brick wall. But, the brick walls of the two other
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exterior sides are interrupted by large semicircular brick arches, three on the
north (street) front and one on the east gable end. The arches are each formed of
three courses of bricks. The western arch on the north front is asymmetrical, as
its west end springs from a point on the tower wall higher than the springing of
its east end on the abutment it shares with the central arch. The western and
central arches are the entry arches, as they are open down to the porch floor. The
two entry arches have smooth granite sills and share three smooth granite steps,
which are flanked by smooth granite sidewalls. A metal pipe railing in the center
of the steps wraps around both sides of the abutment shared by the two entry arches.
Mounted on the wall between the two entry arches is a large modern electric light
fixture. The eastern arch of the north front and the arch of the east gable end are
shorter, as they stop over two feet above the porch floor. Both have rock faced
granite sills. The porch has a concrete floor and a beaded board ceiling with
simple ceiling moulding and a simple ceiling light fixture in front of the main
entry. The main porch roof is sheathed with slate and trimmed by a copper ridge
moulding. As already noted, its north slope is continuous with the north slope of
the main block roof. Above the two entry arches is a gable, whose roof is now
covered with asphalt shingles. The porch has a wide horizontal wooden cornice, with
mouldings, beaded board soffit, and simple modillions. The upper mouldings of the
horizontal cornice are continued on the raking eaves of the two gables. The gables
are both sheathed with slate laid in courses of regular rectangular slates and =
slates with their lower corners cutoff. At the apex of the north gable is a small
electric light that lights the flag flown on the town hall's front lawn.

The wooden rear addition is set on a foundation of a single course of rough cut
granite blocks. Its clapboarded walls are trimmed by cornerboards and a plain cor-
nice with frieze and sloping soffit. The shed roof is sheathed with corrugated metal.
Plain frames surround the windows, all in the south wall. The window in the founda-
tion has two panes. The four windows of the main level include two small single pane
central windows and two large end windows with 2/2 sash.

Most of the main block is devoted to the town hall auditorium. North of the
auditorium on the main level is found the entry hall between the main entry and the
auditorium. To the west of the entry hall is the circular selectmen's room (in the
tower) and its adjoining vault. To the east of the entry hall is the former library
room (now containing the main basement stairs) .and the stairway to the balcony,
which is directly above the side entry hall.To the south of the auditorium is the
stage, which is flanked by two anterooms in both southerly corners of the main
block. South of the stage proper is the backstage area, in the rear addition. The
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second story at the north end includes a circular room in the tower, a narrow
storage room at the north end of the main block, and the balcony at the north
end of the auditorium,

The hardwood floor of the entry hall is interrupted by three small grilled
heating vents. The east, south and west walls are plastered above narrow vertical
beaded board wainscoating with moulded baseboard and rail. A simple light fixture
appears in the center of the plaster ceiling. Save for a narrow strip of plaster
at the top, the north wall is filled by the main entry, The entry's double doors
with six panel leaves, two pane transom window, and two pane sidelights above
square panels, all share simply moulded trim, The east wall features two doors,
an original door to the former library to the north and a later door to the
balcony stairs at the south end. The library door has the six horizontal panels
and the moulded frame with plain cornerblocks that is typical of the building's
original doorways. The balcony stair door, with five panels and a plain frame,
is reached by a single plain step projecting slightly into the entry hall, Above
the balcony door, the wall is vertical beaded boarding, that is wider than the
narrow beaded boarding of the wainscoating. The south wall contains the double
doors to the auditorium, with the typical six horizontal panels, moulded frame and
simple cornerblocks. Above the double doors is a low relief plastic plastic oval
plaque with an eagle and the dates '"1784" and "1984", installed as a memento of
Sutton's celebration of the bicentennial of its incorporation in 1784, Save for a
small bulletin board, the west wall is interrupted only by the niche for the door
to the selectmen's office. Because of the difference in shape between the rectan-
gular entry hall and the circular selectmen's office, the niche is triangular in
plan. The south wall of the niche is plastered above the wainscoating it shares
with the entry hall. As the niche is shorter than the entry hall, it has its own
plaster ceiling. The northwest wall of the niche is occupied by the selectmen's
office door with the typical six panels and moulded frame with cornerblocks.

The selectmen's office in the first floor of the tower is unusual for its
circular plan. The room has a carpeted floor, a plaster wall with simple baseboard
and chair rail, and a plaster ceiling with a modern central light fixture. The
room is 1lit by two 4/4 sash windows, one in the northwest quadrant of the room and
one in the northeast quadrant. The windows both have original moulded frames with
plain upper cornerblocks and moulded sills.Both are equipped with folding interior
louvred shutters. A small brick fireplace projects from the southwest quadrant of
the wall. The fireplace opening is now bricked up, although its flat brick arch is
still visible. The fireplace is topped by a mantelshelf and a short mantel, both
with moulded edges. In the southeast quadrant is found the door to the entry hall
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and the vault door. The entry hall door has the typical original moulded frame

with simple upper and lower cornerblocks. The painted metal vault door, prominently
labeled as the work of '""Hall's Safe and Lock Co." of "Cincinnati', is decorated
with painted floral and geometric ornament and two painted views, a seascape and

a view of the Hall's Safe and Lock Co. factory. The flat painted metal door frame
is labeled "SUTTON" at the top. The vault entry also has double inner metal doors.

The vault has an unusual plan, as it occupies the space between the circular
selectmen's office to its north and the rectangular entry hall and auditorium to
its east and south, The plan is best described as a rectangle with a curved area
cut out of its northwest corner. The vault was built to be fireproof, with a
concrete floor, painted brick walls, and a shallow arched brick ceiling. Three
high metal tie rods stretch between the north and south walls just below the
ceiling. The only opening is the metal framed wvault door. The room is now largely
filled with wooden shelves for the town's records. .

The former library room in the northeast corner of the main block has a
carpeted floor, plaster walls with moulded baseboard, and a plaster ceiling with
simple central light fixture. The north (street) and east walls each contain a 4/4
sash window with interior folding louvred shutters, a moulded sill, and a moulded
frame with plain upper cornerblocks. The six panel door to the entry hall in the
west wall retains its original moulded frame with plain cornerblocks. A high modern
light fixture on the south wall lights the stairway to the basement. The stairway,
which descends along the south wall to the west, is protected by a short wall of
vertical beaded boarding trimmed by a moulded rail on the top and the end. The
stairway has carpeted steps, north and south walls of beaded boarding, and two
simple wooden handrails.

The tall auditorium, the town hall's principal room, has a hardwood floor and
plaster walls with the same narrow vertical beaded board wainscoating with moulded
baseboard and rail as the entry hall. Hanging from the plaster ceiling are six
reproduction Victorian style electric chandeliers, each with eight lights on
ornate brackets.

At the north end of the auditorium is the balcony which projects over the lower
north wall of the room. The back (north) wall of the balcony is five feet to the
north of the lower wall beneath the balcony, as the balcony extends north over
parts of the northern main level rooms. The lower north wall beneath the balcony
features the double doors to the entry hall near the'cé¢enter and the six panel door
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to the side entry hall at the east end. All of the doors in the auditorium and
balcony have original moulded frames with plain cornerblocks. Set between the two
doorways is a large case built to house Sutton's bicentennial quilt. The case,
with its simple wooden frame, plexiglass front, and wallboard backing, is mounted
on the wall and also supported by three wooden legs. West of the quilt case, a
simple sloping wooden shelf for the scrapbook describing the quilt is mounted on
the wall. Two metal brackets for the town tax maps are attached to the wall west
of the double doors. '

The balcony projection has a plastered underside with simple light fixtures
above the doorways. The projection is fronted by narrow vertical beaded boarding
with moulded baseboard and rail. The balcony is reached by the stairs from the
entry hall. Most of the stairway is open to the balcony above. But, a short section
at the lower west end of the stairs has a plaster ceiling with light fixture and
plastered north and south walls with beaded board wainscoating with moulded rail.
At the west end of the stairway is the plain framed five panel door to the entry
hall. Vertical beaded boarding sheathes the west wall of the stairway above the
door. The stairway, which rises from west to east, has board steps with moulded
nosings, and a wooden hand rail. Most of the stairway is flanked by vertical
beaded boarding that continues up into the balcony proper as a short wall that
protects the stairway opening on three sides. The protective wall is trimmed by
a moulded rail at the top and the ends. The balcony's plain wooden floor has four
levels, stepping up from the front (south) to the back (north). The stairway ends
on the second level. A board step on the north side of the stairway provides
access to the fourth level, which extends north of the stairway. The three walls
of the balcony level are plastered with baseboards. A chair rail is mounted on
most of the balcony's north wall. A slight curved bulge at the west end of the
north wall marks the intrusion of the tower into the room. This upper north wall
has two horizontal three pane windows and, at its east end, a four panel door, all
opening into the small second story storage room at the north end of the main
block. Like the other auditorium windows, these two windows have moulded sills and
moulded frames with plain upper cornerblocks.

The auditorium's east and west walls each feature six tall 4/4 sash windows,
with two pane transom windows and interior folding louvred shutters. The balcony
projection interrupts the northerly window in each side wall. The windows are not
placed symmetrically, as each side wall has a slightly different window spacing.
The east and west walls do each feature two slight projections, covered by the
same wainscoating and plaster as the rest of the wall. (These projections are piers
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which support the roof trusses above the auditorium.)

The auditorium's south wall is dominated by the large central opening for the
stage. The stage floor is raised three feet above the auditorium floor. The stage
front is curved so that it projects slightly into the auditorium. The stage front
is sheathed with the same vertical beaded boarding and baseboard as the wains-
coating, but has a narrow moulding at its top. The stage opening has a plain wooden
frame, which it shares with the latticework backed by cloth which fills the space
between the opening and the ceiling. In the center of the latticework is a diamond
shaped panel with a painted landscape scene. The stage opening is equipped with a
a painted stage curtain, depicting a seascape with flanking painted drapes above
a row of advertisements. At each end of the south wall is a six panel door to the
anterooms flanking the stage. Above the western door, a simple shelf supports the
emergency lights, On each side of the stage opening, a bronze rectangular plaque
is mounted on the wall. The eastern plaque honors the Sutton veterans of the
Korean War, while the western plaque lists the veterans of the Vietnam War.

The small side entry hall, located north of the auditorium and south of the
former library room, has a board floor and plaster walls. Most of its plaster
ceiling is sloped because of the balcony stairway, which is located above it. A
moulded frame with plain cornerblocks surrounds the six panel door to auditorium
in the south wall. The exterior door at the east end of the small room has three
panels beneath a large builtin window, and a plain frame.

The second story storage room to the north of the balcony has a board floor
and plaster walls with plain baseboards and chairrails. The plaster ceiling has
two modern light fixtures and the opening to the attic, a plain framed board door.
The only natural light in the room is provided by the two plain framed three pane
windows in the south wall that look out onto the auditorium balcony. The south
wall also has the plain framed four panel door to the balcony and a large builtin
bookshelf with simply moulded frame. Large wooden racks for the storage of town
records line the north wall. At the west end of the room, two plain wooden steps
lead up to the door of the upper tower room. The four panel door with curved top
has plain door jambs. Because of the height of the tower door, a shallow plaster

vault rises from the flat plaster ceiling of the storage room to the arched top
of the doorway.

The circular second story tower room has a board floor, a plaster wall with
plain baseboard, and a plaster ceiling with central fluorescent light fixture.
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Plain frames surround the arched door to storage room on the east and the three
1/1 sash windows. The windows, found to the northeast, north, and northwest, all
have interior folding louvred shutters. A thimble in the southwest quadrant of
the wall marks the location of the tower chimney.

The attic is an unused space whose floor is the unfinished ceiling of the rooms
below, with exposed joists and plaster laths, now partly covered by fiberglass
insulation. The curved brick wall of the tower can be seen in the northwest corner,
but the other sides of the room are simply the pitched undersides of the main hip
roof, with exposed rafters and roof boards. The roof is supported by three large
trusses. Each truss includes two rafters, a tie beam and a collarbeam. The tie beam
and the collarbeam in each truss are connected by diagonal wooden braces and two
vertical metal rods.

The two anterooms flanking the stage in the southeast and southwest corners of
the main block are virtually mirror images of each other. Each has a hardwood floor,
a plaster ceiling, and plaster walls with beaded boarding topped by a simple rail.
From the main level at the auditorium door in a north corner of the room (the north-
east corner of the east anteroom and the northwest corner of the west anteroom),
one step rises to a landing in the outer corner (the southeast corner of the east
room and the southwest corner of the west room). From this landing, three steps
ascend along the south wall to a landing in the rear inner corner of the room (the
southwest corner of the east room and the southeast corner of the west room). The
L-shaped upper landing is edged by a short wall of vertical beaded boarding with
a simple moulded rail. Each room is lit by a tall 4/4 sash window,with a two pane
transom window, interior louvred shutters, and the same frame as the similar
audtiorium windows, in its exterior wall (the east wall of the east room and the
west wall of the west room). Moulded frames with plain upper and lower cornerblocks
surround the two original six panel doors in each room, the northern door to the
auditorium and the door to the stage (in the west wall of the east room and the
east wall of the west room). The later four panel door to the backstage area in
the south wall of each room has a plain frame in a deep niche with beaded board
sides and top. Formerly, each anteroom also had a basement stairway. The northwest
corner of the east room still retains its stairway with its board steps, and beaded
boarding on its north and south walls and on the sloping ceiling of its lower west
end. But, a similar stairway in the northeast corner of the west room has been
closed off and a board floor built at the level of the auditorium floor. This area
of the west anteroom is now enclosed by a wire mesh storage cage, with a plain
wooden frame and a wooden framed wire mesh door at its west end. Above the surviving
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stairway in the east anteroom is a simple board shelf that anchors the pulley for
the stage curtain. (The pulley is dated '"'1930".)

The stage has a carpeted floor and a plaster ceiling. The north side of the
stage is largely occupied by the plain framed stage opening.Above the stage opening
can be seen the the board frame on which the stage lights are mounted and the
cloth backing of the latticework above the stage opening. The east and west side
walls are each plastered with moulded baseboard and chairrail, and a plain board
high on the wall. Each side wall contains a six panel door to an anteroom, in its
original moulded frame with plain cornerblocks. A large opening to the backstage
area almost fills the south wall of the stage, leaving only a band of painted wood

on its sides and top. The lower part of this opening is covered by a hanging cloth
curtain on a metal rod.

The backstage area in the rear addition has a carpeted floor, horizontal beaded
board walls on the south, east and west, and a sloping beaded board ceiling. The
north wall is painted brick to the east and west of the large plain framed opening
to the stage. At each end of the north wall is a plain framed four panel door:to an
anteroom. Plain frames also surround the four windows in the south wall, two central
single pane windows and a 2/2 sash window at each end.

At the foot of the basement stairs from the former library room is a small
landing area that opens directly to its south to the main room that occupies most
of the basement. (The main room,once a dining room, now serves a pre-school.) Along
the west side of the basement are three rooms opening off the main room, the
furnace room to the north, a storage room (with the basement entry) in the center,
and the kitchen to the south. The kitchen continues into the southwest corner of
the basement level. On the south side of the main room are the women's restroom,
just east of the kitchen, and the men's restroom in .the southeast corner. Both
restrooms include a separate toilet room. The men's restroom also has the stairs
to the east anteroom and a storage area under the stairs. (Part of the basement
to the north of the northern stairs and landing is still unfinished and unused.)

The landing at the foot of the main stairs and the main room share a linoleum
tile floor and modern acoustic tile ceilings with ceiling mouldings and modern
light fixtures. The landing area has painted concrete block walls on its north
and south. Its east and south sides are plain framed openings into the stairway
and the main room, respectively. In its north wall is a short two panel door with
simply moulded trim to the unused area At the north end of the basement. (This
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unused space has a dirt floor, stone and brick walls on the north, east and west,
concrete block and beaded board walls on the south, and an unfinished board ceiling.)

The main room has painted concrete block walls on its east and north sides,
and on most of its west side. The south end of the west wall is vertical beaded
boarding, while the south wall is plastered. The east wall is topped by a moulded
frieze. Four round metal posts punctuate the room. At the west end of the north
wall is the plain framed opening to the stair landing. High in the east wall are
three deep plain framed openings for the basement windows, a three pane window to
the south, two pane windows to the north and in the center. Simply moulded frames
grace the two four panel doors to the restrooms in the south wall. Plain frames
surround the openings in the west wall, the four panel doors to the furnace room
and the storage room to the north, the plain double leaved,folding wooden doors
to the kitchen at the south end, and the countertop opening, with formica covered
shelf, to the kitchen just north of the kitchen doors.

The furnace room has a concrete floor, a concrete block wall on the east, stone
and brick walls on the other three sides, and a plaster ceiling. Plain frames trim
the four panel door to the main room in the east wall and the two high openings in
the outer west wall, a two pane window to the south and a louver to the north. In
the brick south wall can be seen a former opening to the storage room, now filled
in with concrete blocks. The room is used for the building's furnace and for storage.

The storage room's concrete floor is set one step above the main basement floor
level. The room has an unfinished board ceiling with exposed joists, and brick and
stone walls. Concrete blocks fill the closed opening to the furnace room in the
north wall. Plain frames surround the east door to the main room and the western
board door to the basement entry.

The basement entry is basically a covering for four shallow concrete steps that
rise from the storage room to the outer western door. On the outer edges of the
steps are narrow ramps used for the wheeled chemical fire extinguisher once owned
by the town. The entry has poured concrete walls on three sides, the old brick and
granite block outer wall of the main block at its east end, and an unfinished board
ceiling with exposed rafters and tie beams. The wooden doors at the east and west
ends have plain frames.

The kitchen has a linoleum tile floor and a beaded board ceiling with light
fixtures. The walls are plastered on the north, and painted brick and concrete on
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the south and west. The east wall is vertical beaded boarding to the north of the
doors to the main room, painted concrete block to the south of the doors. Two
short sections of painted concrete wall project into the room from the east and
west walls, to mark the junction between the original kitchen and its later south
extension. Built against the north wall is a counter with a builtin sink, beaded
board front, and formica top and splashboard. The countertop continues down the
west wall and the east wall, and through the east wall's countertop opening into
the main room. The western section of the counter has two pairs of board doors

in its base. Under the countertop on the east wall are builtin wooden shelves. A
board shelf is mounted on the north wall above the counter. Cabinets with plywood
doors and simple trim are mounted on the east wall south of the plain framed main
room doors, as well as on much of the south wall. The west wall has two high
exterior openings. The north opening still contains a plain framed three pane
window. The south opening now contains a louver for the kitchen fan. The south
end of the west wall features a wooden counter with drawers and formica top, and
shelves mounted on brackets above the counter.

The women's restroom contains two spaces, an outer room with a sink to the
north, and the inner toilet room to the south. Both small spaces have linoleum
tile floors and beaded board ceilings with light fixtures. They share a painted
concrete block west wall and a plastered east wall. Plaster also covers the north
wall of the outer room, while the south wall of the toilet room is painted concrete.
The wall between the two spaces is constructed of vertical beaded boarding and
is equipped with a plain framed, vertical beaded board door.

The men's restroom in the southeast corner is composed of three spaces, an L-
shaped space containing the sink to the north and west of the stairs down from
the anteroom, a storage space to the east and south of and under the stairs, and
the small toilet room in the southwest corner, south of the westerly section of
the main outer space. Again the outer space and the toilet room share linoleum
tile floors and beaded board ceilings with light fixtures. The two southerly walls
of the outer room are built of vertical beaded boarding, while its other walls are
plastered. Plain frames surround the four panel door to the main room to the north
and the vertical beaded board door to the toilet room to the south. The board door
with a wire mesh covered opening to the storage room to the south under the stairs has
no trim. There is no door in the opening to the stairway. The toilet room has
beaded boarding on its east and north walls, plaster on its south and west walls,
and a plain frame on the door to the outher room. The storage space has 'a .cohcrete
floor, beaded board ceiling, a brick and concrete wall on the south, a plastered
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wall on the east, beaded board walls on the north and west. The unfinished under-
side of the stairs can be seen in the northwest corner of the storage space.

Under the rear addition is a crawlspace with dirt floor, brick and stone walls,
and an unfinished board ceiling. The crawlspace is accessible only through the
window in the addition's south foundation.

The rectangular lot is three-eighths of an acre in size. The land slopes
slightly to the south, enough so that earth had to be banked around the rear
of the building. The front lawn is, however, quite level. A concrete curb marks
the street frontage. An asphalt paved walk leads from the street to an asphalt
paved semicircle in front of the entry steps. To the west of the walkway, the
front lawn features a bulletin board, a flagpole, a large spruce tree, and a
maple tree. The wooden bulletin board, supported by two wooden posts, has double
plexiglass doors with simple trim, and a little wooden shingled gable roof with
a plain box cornice. The flagpole is a tall metal pole, hinged between two metal
posts so that it can be lowered for maintenance. The eastern portion of the front
lawn features a small maple tree in the center, two large maple trees on the east
boundary, a shrub at the northeast corner of the porch, and a concrete circle
marking the location of a former flagpole. A concrete splashpad encircles the
building's foundation. On the west side of the building is found a free standing
propane gas tank, connected by a pipe to the furnace, and a circular concrete well
cover. A small maple tree grows in the north corner of the basement entry and the
main block. Shrubs grow near the southwest corner of the lot. A thick growth of
trees and a short fieldstone wall are found in the southeast corner of the lot.

Pillsbury Memorial Hall was built and essentially completed in 18911, although
it was not formally accepted by the Town of Sutton until 18922, Despite a hundred
years of use, the building has seen relatively few changes.

The exterior of Pillsbury Memorial Hall shows little change since i§s picture
was taken for the frontispiece of the book published on its dedication™.The largest
addition was made in 1895, when the annual town meeting voted "to build suitable
1. Kearsarge Independent and Times (Warner) June 5, 1891, p.1l; Oct. 2, 1891, p.4

2. "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 5, 1885-1901" (manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial
Hall, Sutton, N.H.) pp. 315 and 319

3. DEDICATION OF THE PILLSBURY MEMORIAL HALL IN SUTTON, N.H. (Concord, Republican
Press Association, 1893) frontispiece
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water closets for the Town Hall".# (The descriptions of Pillsbury Memorial Hall

as built make no mention of any restrooms or sgnitary facilities.Jd) The rear
addition was built to house the new restrooms. The rear addition appears today
much as it did when built, save perhaps for its corrugated metal roof, which may
well be a later change. The other major exterior addition, the basement entry,

was probably first constructed about 1915, when the town purchased chemical fire
extinguishers mounted on carts. One of the extinguishers was stored in the basement
of the town hall. At that time, the present steps and ramps were apparently built
on the west side of the main block basement./ It is probable that this basement
entry was subsequently remodeled later in the 20th century, but it has probably

not changed greatly in size. In 1922, a bronze honor roll for the veterans of

World War I was installed on the front wall of the main block.8 Some exterior
changes are probably related to the installation of a kitchen and dining room in
the basement as a Works Progress Administration project in 1935-36.9 The construc-
tion of the rooms probably required the erection of exterior brick chimney on the
west side of the main block to serve the kitchen stovelo, and the installation of
more basement windows to light the rooms. (The dedication book photograph shows
only the two northerly windows in the main block's west foundation.ll)

4. "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 5, 1885-1901", pp. 417 and 419

5. DEDICATION OF THE PILLSBURY MEMORIAL HALL IN SUTTON, N.H., pp.65-66; Kearsarge
Independent and Times Oct. 2, 1891, p.4; Concord Evening Monitor July 14, 1892,
P.>

6. Kearsarge Independent and Times June 7, 1895, p.4; ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN
OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING FEBRUARY 15,1896 (North Sutton, Charles H. Peaslee,
1896) pp.10-11

7. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992; interview of Larry
Bennett by David Ruell, Sept. 12, 1992; interview of Clifford Ayer by David Ruell,
Sept. 25, 1992

8. untitled volume of town records, including town meeting minutes, 1901-1925
(manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.) pp. 632 and 638; ANNUAL
REPORTS OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING JANUARY 31, 1923 (Concord, Evans
Printing Co., 1923) pp.13 and 22

9. Kearsarge Independent May 3, 1935, p.5; Robert Bristol ''Historical Sketch of
Pillsbury Memorial Hall', ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE
YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1972 (Claremont, Hurd's Offset Printing) p.86; ANNUAL
REPORTS OF TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING JANUARY 31, 1936 (Henniker,
Maxwell Press) pp. 25, 42-43; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDING JANUARY 31, 1937 (Henniker, Maxwell Press) p.30

10. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992; interview of
Clifford Ayer by David Ruell, Sept. 25, 1992

11. DEDICATION OF THE PILLSBURY MEMORIAL HALL IN SUTTON, N.H., frontispiece
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In the past fifty years, there have been only minor changes to the building's
exterior, A metal pipe railing was installed in the center of the entry steps
in 1956.12 Louvers wre installed in one western basement window about 1959,13 when
an oil furnace was installed, and in another western basement window after the
kitchen was enlarged in 1964.14 The 1970's saw the placement of a large light on
gable above the porch entry.l5 Sometime in the third quarter of the 20th century,
the slate roof of that gable was replaced by asphalt shingles.16 Vinyl storm
windows were installed in the 1970's and 1980's.l7 The original two pane pivoting
windows in the upper story of the tower were replaced by 1/1 sash windows in the
1980's, because it was not possible to fit storm windows over the pivoting windows. 18
Basically, however, save for the addition of an exterior chimney and the two small
and inconspicuous additions, the basement entry and the rear addition, the exterior
appears virtually as it did when first constructed.

Although we have no early views of the interiors of the building, it is quite
clear that there have been few significant changes to the main level and second
story rooms, although the basement has been thoroughly remodeled. The building has
seen the upgrading of utilities. Originally 1lit by kerosene lamps,19 the building
saw the installation of electric lights in 1916.20 The light fixtures have been
updated over the years, most notably in 1985-86, when reproduction Victorian style
12, ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1956

(Warner, Mayflower Press) p.l5; interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell,

Sept. 22, 1992

13. ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER
31, 1959 (Warner, Mayflower Press) pp.7-8; interview of Robert Bristol by
David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992

14, "Sutton Women's Club, Sutton, New Hampshire, Town Hall Project" (manuscript,
collection of Robert Bristol, Sutton, N.H.) pp. 7 and 10, photographs(unpaged)

15. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992

l16. Ibid.

17. ANNUAL REPORT OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1975

(no publication data) p.l19; interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22,

1992

18. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992

19. Bristol, p.87

20. untitled volume of town records, 1901-1925, pp. 481 and 485; ANNUAL REPORTS
OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING FEBRUARY 15, 1917 (Warner, Kearsarge
Independent Press, 1917) pp. 3 and 19
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chandeliers were installed in the auditorium.2l The heating system has also been
periodically replaced.22

The main level rooms saw the installation of folding interior shutters in 1895.23
The same year saw the construction of the rear addition with its two restrooms. 24
This addition required the placement of two doors in the south walls of the
anterooms to serve the restrooms. In 1930, a curtain, painted by a Mr. Davis of
Warner, was hung on the stage.25 The latticework. with its central painted diamond
above the stage probably dates from the same time. The 1935-36 WPA renovation
included the enlargement of the stage by removing the wall between the stage and
the rear addition and the remodeling of the rear addition by converting the restrooms
into a backstage area. 26 The basement stairs in the two anterooms were presumably
21. untitled volume of town records, including town meeting minutes, 1958-1985

(manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.) pp.484-485; 1985 REPORT OF

THE TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H. (Newport Litho, Inc.) pp. 83 and 96; 1986 REPORT OF
THE TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H. (Newport, Newport Litho, Inc.) p. 102

22. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR
ENDING JANUARY 31, 1918 (Warner, Kearsarge Independent Press, 1918) pp.8 and
105 ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING
DECEMBER 31, 1959, pp. 7-8; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1969 (Claremont, Eagle Publications)
p.7; 1984 REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H. (Newport Litho, Inc.) p.l2

23. "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 5, 1885-1901" pp. 417 and 419; ANNUAL
REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING FEBRUARY 15, 1896, pp.10-11;
Kearsarge Independent and Times June 7, 1895, p.4

24, "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 5, 1885-1901" pp. 417 and 419; ANNUAL

REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING FEBRUARY 15, 1896, pp.10-11:
Kearsarge Independent and Times, June 7, 1895, p.4; interview of Grace Hersey
by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992; interview of Clifford Ayer by David Ruell,
Sept. 25, 1992

25. date on curtain pulley; Bristol, p.87; untitled volume of town records,
including town meeting minutes, 1926-1940 (manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial Hall,
Sutton, N.H.) pp. 81,88 and 114

26. Kearsarge Independent May 3, 1935, p.3; interview of Grace Hersey by David
Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992
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built then to serve the new restrooms in the basement.27 The only likely pre-
World War II change to the main level rooms would have been the addition of the
door at the foot of the balcony stairs. The stairway probably originally opened
directly into the entry hall. The present door, which is different in design from
the building's original doors, and the small section of beaded board infill above

the door, were presumably added to keep drafts from the entry hall from rising
into the balcony.

Changes to the main level and upper level rooms in the past fifty years has
been limited. A new heating sgstem in 1959 necessitated the bricking in of the
selectmen's office fireplace. 8 Renovation of ‘the basement led to the closure of
the basement stairs in the side entry hall and the building of new basement stairs
in the former library room in 1958-59,29 and the closure of the basement stairs
in the west anteroom in the early 1960's. 30 Carpets were laid in the selectmen's
office in 1968 and again in 1983,31 in the former library room in 1972,32 and on
the stage after 1970.33 Storage needs led to the placement of the wire mesh cage
in the west anteroom in the late 1970's or 1980's,34 and the building of racks in
27. Interview of Grace Hersey by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992
28. "Sutton Women's Club, Sutton, New Hampshire, Town Hall Project' p.2; interview

of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON,
NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1959, pp.7-8;

29. Foster Builders, Inc. "Hall Renovations, Sutton, N.H.'", plan dated 6/6/58,
(manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.); untitled volume of town
records, including town meeting minutes, 1941-1958 (manuscript, Pillsbury
Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.) pp. 466, 483, 489 and 493; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF
SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1959, pp. 7-8 and 46 ;
Bristol, p.86

30. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992; minutes of Town
Hall Building Committee (manuscript, collection of Robert Bristol, Sutton, N.H.)
minutes for February 29, 1960; '"Sutton Women's Club, Sutton, New Hampshire, Town
Hall Project" photographs

31. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER
31, 1968 (no publication data) p.22; 1983 REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H.
(Newport Litho) p.9;

32. ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER
31, 1972, p.6

33. ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING
DECEMBER 31, 1970 (Claremont, Eagle Publications) p.51

34, Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992
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the second story storage room in 1986.3° Bronze plaques were mounted on the
auditorium wall to honor the veterans of the Korean War and the Vietnam War in
1976.36 (The Vietnam War plaque was replaced in 1989 because of the omission of
one name.>3 ) The town's bicentennial celebration3§n 1984 led to the placing of a
plaque above the doors to the auditorium in 1984~" and to the display of the
Bicentennial quilt in a case in the auditorium in 1985-6.39

The basement has seen more extensive changes. Originally, the basement was
used simply for a furnace and for storage.40 It was probably a rather unfinished
space, served by stairs in the side entry hall, and lit by two or three windows.
The 1935-36 renovations by the WPA led to the creation of a dining room, a kitchen,
two restrooms, and apparently, two stairways from the anterooms.4l The dining
room occupied the southerly three-fifths of the present main room, while the
kitchen was just the northern half of the present kitchen.42 The restrooms and
the stairways were virtually mirror images of each other.43 The rooms had beaded
board ceilings and concrete floors.44

In the past fifty years, the basement has seen two major renovations and other
changes. 1958-59 saw the enlargement of the dining room to the north to become the
present main room. The project included the erection of the main room's concrete

block walls, the closure of the stairs to the side entry hall, and the opening

35. 1986 REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H., p.1l5

36. ANNUAL REPORT OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1976
(no publication data) pp.28 and 36

37. 1989 REPORT OF THE TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H. (Newport Litho, Inc.) p.18; untitled
volume of town records, including town meeting minutes, 1986-1992 (manuscript,
Pillsbury Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.) p.46

38. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992

39. untitled volume of town records, 1958-1985, pp. 484-485; 1986 REPORT OF THE
TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H. p.102

40. Concord Evening Monitor July 14, 1892, p.5

41. Interview of Grace Hersey by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992; Bristol, p.86;
Kearsarge Independent May 3, 1935 p.5

42. Foster Builders Inc. "Hall Renovations, Sutton N.H.", plan dated 6/6/58

43. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992

44, Interview of Clifford Ayer by David Ruell, Sept. 25, 1992; ANNUAL REPORT OF
THE TOWN OF SUTTON FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1957 (Warner, Mayflower
Press) photograph between pages 64 and 65
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of wider, more convenient stairs to the former library room.43 As already noted,
the stairs down from the west anteroom were removed in the early 1960's. In 1964,
the kitchen was enlarged to the south, taking over parts of the area devoted to
the women's restroom and the western stairway. An new concrete block wall was
built between the reduced women's restroom and the enlarged kitchen. Double
folding doors replaced the single door between the kitchen and the main room.
New counters and cabinets were built in the enlarged kitchen.46 In 1965, tile
floors were laid in the basement rooms.%/ Other recent changes in the basement
have included the acoustic tile ceiling in the main room and the closing of the
opening between the storage room and the furnace room.

In summary, the exterior, with the exception of two minor and inconspicuous
additions, appears virtually as it did in 1891. The main level and upper level
rooms also retain their basic late 19th century appearance. Only the basement,

originally a rather unimportant subsidiary space, has seen significant change
in the 20th century.

The town hall grounds are also little changed. The trees and shrubs have, of
course, grown over the years. The walkway has been replaced when necessary. A
concrete curb was built along the street in 1935.48 The flagpole has beez moved
at least twice, from its original position beside the front entry steps, 9 to a
location on the front lawn east of the walkway still marked by a concrete circle,
and then to its present position west of the walk.50 A well was drilled and covered
45. ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,
1959, pp.7-8; Bristol, p.86; interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22,
1992; Foster Builders, Inc. '"'Hall Renovations, Sutton, N.H.", plan dated 6/6/58;
"'Sutton Women's Club, Sutton, New Hampshire, Town Hall Project" p.2

46. "Sutton Women's Club, Sutton, New Hampshire, Town Hall Project", pp. 3,5,8-10,
plan and photographs; Bristol, p.87; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMP-
SHIRE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1963 (Claremont, Eagle Publications)
p.8

47. untitled volume of town records, 1958-1985, pp.l47 and 149; ANNUAL REPORT OF
TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,1964 (Warner,
Mayflower Press) p.20; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1965 (Warner, Mayflower Press) pp. 19 and 57

48. Kearsarge Independent August 16, 1935 p.5

49. DEDICATION OF THE PILLSBURY MEMORIAL HALL IN SUTTON, N.H. frontispiece

50. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, Sept. 22, 1992
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by a concrete well cover on the west side of the building in 1961.°1 About 1986,
a bulletin board was erected next to the walk.>2 A free standing propane tank was
placed near the main block's west facade about 1989.53 The grounds nevertheless
appear today much as they did in the 1890's.

Despite minor changes, Pillsbury Memorial Hall and its grounds retain their
basic integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and
association.

51. untitled volume of town records, 1958-1985, pp.83 and 85; ANNUAL REPORT OF THE
TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1960 (Warner,
Mayflower Press, 1961) p.9; ANNUAL REPORT OF TOWN OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE FOR
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,1961 (Warner, Mayflower Press) . pp.9 and 39

52. untitled volume of town records, 1958-1985, pp.484-485; 1986 REPORT OF THE
TOWN OF SUTTON, N.H., p.102

53. Interview of Robert Bristol by David Ruell, September 22, 1992
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for National Register listing.)

[x] A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[] B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

k] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[J D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark ““x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[1 A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

[ B removed from its original location.

[1 C a birthplace or grave.

[] D a cemetery.

[] E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
[ F a commemorative property.

[J G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

"Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Politics / Government

Architecture

Period of Significance
1891-1942

Significant Dates
1891

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
Buffington, Leroy S.
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[] recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record # ___
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[J Other State agency
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K] Local government
[1 University
[1 Other
Name of repository:
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[] sSee continuation sheet
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Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
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Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) i\ndicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name Town of Sutton

street & number __ 93 Main Street P.0. Box 85

telephone 603-927-4416

city or town _Sutton (post office-North Sutton)

state _ N.H. zip code 03260
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Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
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of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of

Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Statement of Significance

Pillsbury Memorial Hall is significant under Criterion A in the area of Politics
and Government as a town hall that has served the Town of Sutton for a full century
and as a good, well preserved example of the town halls found in Merrimack County.
Erected in 1891, Pillsbury Memorial Hall has housed all Sutton town meetings and
elections from November 1892 to the present. It has housed the municipal offices,
used for town administration and the storage of town records, since its first
occupancy by the town. (The building also sheltered the town library until a
separate library building was erected.) Pillsbury Memorial Hall continues to
convey the character and associations of its historic use and building type.
Pillsbury Memorial Hall is also significant under Criterion C in the area of
Architecture as one of:ithe best Late Victorian town ‘halls in Merrimack, as indeed
the county's only Romanesque town hall. The building is also notable as the work
of the nationally known architect Leroy S. Buffington of Minnesota. The well pre-
served building continues to convey the character of its original design. The
building's period of significance under Criterion C is the year of its erection,
1891. Under Criterion A, its period of significance begins with the year of its
first use for town meetings in 1892 and ends in 1942, the arbitrary 50 year cutoff
date.

Politics and Government -

Merrimack County was settled in the 18th century, when the townships that now
comprise the county were granted to groups of proprietors. Usually, when the
population in a township had grown large enough, the township was incorporated as
a town and given the right of self government. Twenty-two of the present twenty-
seven municipalities in the county were incorporated as towns by the end of the
18th century. Two of the smaller townships were incorporated in the early 19th
century, Wilmot in 1807 and Allenstown in 1831. The 19th century also saw the
incorporation of three new towns from parts ?f pre-existing towns, Hooksett in
1822, Franklin in 1828, and Webster in 1860.

The governments of all Merrimack County towns were originally based on the town
meeting, the public meeting of the town's voters,held annually or as required by
special needs, to make governmental policy for the town, to appropriate moneyv, to
adopt ordinances and regulations, and to elect town officers. The everyday tasks
of government were given to a board of selectmen. But, the major decisions were
made at the town meetings. In the 19th century, the county's two largest communities
changed to a city form of government with an elected city council, Concord in 1853,2
1. D.H. Hurd, ed. HISTORY OF MERRIMACK AND BELKNAP COUNTIES, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Phila-

delphia, J.W. Lewis, 1885) pp.1-2
2. Hurd, p.120
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and Franklin in 1894.3 However, the other twenty-five municipalities in Merrimack
County still retain the town meeting as the prinicpal mechanism of their local
government?.

Town meetings do require a place to meet. Since, in the 18th century and the
early 19th century, New Hampshire town governments were also responsible for the
support of a town minister and the provision of a building for religious services,
most towns erected a meetinghouse, which was used for both town meetings and the
religious services of the established church. The meetinghouse was typically erected
on town owned land with town appropriaions and/or funds raised by the sale of pew
privileges. Save for the small town of Danbury, all of the Merrimack County towns in
existence by 1820 had such meetinghouses, 4 although, as we shall see, Sutton was a
special case, in that it had two privately owned meetinghouses.

In 1819, the relationship of church and state in New Hampshire was radically
changed when the state legislature adopted the Toleration Act, which stated that
towns could no longer appropriate money for the support of ministers and of meeting-
houses used for religious purposes. The Toleration Act allowed towns to continue
to maintain meetinghouses that they already owned.> But, in most towns, the ultimate
effect of the Toleration Act was the physical, as well as the financial, separation
of church and town.

Most of the old town meetinghouses in Merrimack County are no longer standing,
having either been demolished or lost to fire. Eleven or twelve 18th century meeting-
houses once used for town meetings still survive in Merrimack County, although all
have been extensively altered. (The number is uncertain, as the fate of the 18th
century South Sutton meetinghouse is unclear. Given the loss of historical records
and conflicting accounts, it is not known if the building was remodeled into a church
or replaced by a new building in the 1860's.6) Six or seven of these meetinghouses,
3. Hobart Pillsbury, NEW HAMPSHIRE: RESOURCES, ATTRACTIONS AND ITS PEOPLE: A HISTORY
(New York, Lewis Historical Publishing, 1927) vol. II, p.670

4. A survey of past and present meetinghouses was made by consulting Hurd's county
history and local histories, and by interviewing local historians. These sources
will be cited in the appropriate footnotes and in the bibliography.

5. LAWS OF NEW HAMPSHIRE, VOL. 8, SECOND CONSTITUTIONAL PERIOD, 1811-1820 (Concord,
Evans Printing Co., 1920) pp.820-821

6. Augusta H. Worthen, THE HISTORY OF SUTTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Concord, Republican
Press Association, 1890) p.333; Arthur E. French, A HISTORIC SKETCH OF THE MEETING
HOUSE BUILDING (Sutton, 1936) p.7; interview of Betty Wells by David Ruell,
November 19, 1989
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in Andover, Hill, Salisbury, Hopkinton, Boscawen, North Sutton, and maybe South
Sutton, were remodeled into churches.’/ The meetinghouses in Henniker, Pittsfield

and Canterbury were converted into town halls.8 Only two meetinghouses, in Loudon
and Webster, continued to serve both governmental and religious functions, for,

in the mid 19th century, each was divided into two stories, with a town hall in
the first story and a church auditorium in the second story.9

The more typical solution was for the town government to erect its own hall
for town meetings. Today, there are sixteen buildings standing in Merrimack County

that were specifically built as town halls before 1942.10 These include the present

7. John R. Eastman, HISTORY OF THE TOWN OF ANDOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE, 1751-1906
(Concord, Rumford Printing Co.,1910) pp.102-104; John J. Dearborn, THE HISTORY OF
SALTISBURY, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Manchester, William E. Moore, 1890) pp.l131-144; Charles
C. Lord, LIFE AND TIMES IN HOPKINTON, N.H. (Concord, Republican Press, 1890) p.184;
Mildred Morrill, Harriette Kenney, Lee-Ann Forsyth, HILL, THE OLD AND THE NEW,
1754-1976 (c.1976), p.4; Charles C. Coffin, THE HISTORY OF BOSCAWEN AND WEBSTER
FROM 1773 TO 1878 (Concord, Republican Press, 1878) pp.157-158, 232-233; French,
p./; Worthen, pp. 333, 337-339. The former Andover meetinghouse, now the Congre-
gational Church, was listed on the National Register, as part of the East Andover
Village Center Historic District on March 16, 1989, while the former Hill meeting-
house, now the Hill Center Church, was listed on September 12, 1985.

8. Henniker History Committee, THE ONLY HENNIKER ON EARTH (Canaan, Phoenix Publishing,
1980) pp.38-39; E. Harold Young, HISTORY OF PITTSFIELD, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Manchester,
Granite State Press, 1953) pp. 48-49; James O. Lyford, ed., HISTORY OF THE TOWN
OF CANTERBURY, NEW HAMPSHIRE,1727-1912 (Canterbury, Canterbury Historical Society,
1973 reprint of 1912 ed.) pp.219 and 224. The Henniker Town Hall was listed on the
National Register on February 24, 1981, while the Pittsfield Town Hall was listed
as part of the Pittsfield Center Historic District on December 12, 1980

9. Coffin, pp.137-143, 242-242; Webster History Committee, WEBSTER, NEW HAMPSHIRE,
1933-1983 (Warner, R.C. Bradshaw, 1984) pp.27-28, 157-159, "Town Book No. 8, 1837-
1855" (manuscript, Loudon Town Offices, Loudon, N.H.) pp.249-251. The Webster
Meetinghouse was listed on the National Register on March 7, 1985, and the Loudon
Town Hall was listed on September 5, 1990.

10. The town halls of the county were also surveyed by reviewing county and local
histories and by interviewing local historians and officials. These sources will
be cited in the appropriate places and in the bibliography. It should be noted
that the towns of Allenstown and Northfield acquired former church buildings to
serve as their town halls. (John Dowst '"The 01d Allenstown Meeting House' Granite
Monthly, 1912,vol. 44, pp.5-11; Lucy R. Cross, HISTORY OF NORTHFIELD, NEW HAMPSHIRE
1780-1905 (Concord, Rumford Press, 1905) pp.26, 37-38)
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or past town halls in Hooksett (1828-29), Salisbury (1837), Chichester (1845), Hill

(1847), Bow (1847), Epsom (1850), Danbury (1856), Bradford (1863), Hopkinton (1873),
Newbury (1876), Andover (1879), Sutton (1891), Wilmot (1906), Dunbarton (1909),

Warner (1910), and New London (1917-18)."" The majority are modest vernacular
structures, but some, such as the town hall in Sutton, have greater architectural
pretensions.

The Town of Sutton has to wait for over a century before it acquired its own
building for town meetings. Granted to Obadiah Perry and 59 other people in 1749,
the township was first known as Perrystown.l2 Because of the French and Indian War,
actual settlement of the grant was delayed until 1767.13 It was not until 1784
that Perrytown was incorporated as a town under the new name of Sutton.l4 For the
first fourteen years, town meetings were held in private homes, as there was no
suitable meetinghouse in the community.l5 At the first town meeting on May 20, 1784,
a committee was chosen to select a site for a meetinghouse.16 But the selection of
11. Charles R. Hardy, HOOKSETT HISTORICAL SKETCHES 1822-1968 (Manchester, Lew A.

Cummings, 1969) pp.57-61; Dearborn, pp.359-361; Chichester History Committee,

A HISTORY OF CHICHESTER, 1727-1977 (c.1977), pp.35-36; Morrill, Kenney and
Fosyth, p.4; David A. Bundy, 100 ACRES MORE OR LESS, THE HISTORY OF THE LAND

AND PEOPLE OF BOW, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Canaan, Phoenix Publishing, 1975) pp.101, 308-
309; James Garvin, '"Report to the Epsom Town Hall Committee' (manuscript, N.H.
Division of Historical Resources, Concord, N.H.); dateboard on Danbury Town Hall;
Bradford History Committee, TWO HUNDRED PLUS, 1771-1976, BRADFORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE
IN RETROSPECT (Canaan, Phoenix Publishing, 1976) pp.47-50; Lord, pp.l172-175;
NEWBURY PAST AND PRESENT (Newbury, Sunapee Lake Grange No. 112, ¢.1955) p.10;
Ralph G. Chaffee, HISTORY OF ANDOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE, 1900-1965 (Orford, Equity
Publishing, 1966) p.l19; Florence Langley, GLIMPSES OF THE PAST, THE HISTORY OF
WILMOT, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Canaan, Phoenix Publishing, 1986) pp.29-32; Alice M. Hadley
WHERE THE WINDS BLOW FREE, DUNBARTON, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Canaan, Phoenix Publishing,
1976) pp.8 and 41; Carl Malmberg, ed. WARNER, NEW HAMPSHIRE, 1880-1974 (Warner,
Warner Historical Society, 1974) pp.23-24; James D. Squires, MIRROR TO AMERICA,

A HISTORY OF NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 1900-1950 (Concord, Evans Printing, 1952)

pp.35-36. The Bradford Town Hall was listed on the National Register on November
13, 1980.

12, Worthen, pp.l and 4

13. Worthen, pp.l4, 17 and 32

14, Worthen, pp.95-97

15. "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol.l, 1784-1813" (manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial
Hall, Sutton, N.H.)

16. Worthen, pp.96-97, 123
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a site proved rather difficult, as the town's residents were divided in its early
days. As a 1794 petition to the state legislature explained, the center of the town
was '""'so mountainous and broken'" that it was unwise to build a meetinghouse there
and that,as the inhabitants were concentrated at the northern and southern ends of
the town, it would be better to build two meetinghouses.l7 Ultimately, after a
decade of discussion and a number of votes and countervotes at the town meetings,
the town did not build its own meetinghouse.18 Instead, private societies built

two separate meetinghouses, in North Sutton and South Sutton, at about the same
time, from 1794 to 1797.19 For over four decades, beginning in 1798, the two
privately owned meetinghouses were used alternately for town meetings.20

In the 1840's and 1850's, some town meetings were held in inns and in private
halls, as well as in the meetinghouses.21 And the town meeting records reveal a
growing interest in building a town hall. A March 1849 town meeting warrant article
to build a town hall was postponed indefinitely, but a simi ir article was narrowly
defeated on a 91 to 87 vote at the March 1854 town meeting. In 1855, the North
Sutton Meetinghouse was remodeled. Originally, the main room of the meetinghouse
was two stories high, with a high pulpit and a gallery on three sides. A new floor
was now built at the gallery level. The upper level of the building became the
church auditorium, while the lower level was converted into a hall.23 The lower
hall of the North Meetinghouse was the favored site for town meetings through the
mid 1870's, although other sites, notably a hall owned by Joseph P. Nelson, were
also used.i4 From 1875 on, Nelson's Hall was used almost exclusively for town meet-
ings.25 Interest in building a town hall may have been restrained in the post war
years by the large debt for Civil War bounties and expenses that the town carried
17. Worthen, pp.318-319
18. Worthen, pp.l123-126, 316-325
19. Worthen, pp.325-333
20. "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 1, 1784-1813"; "Proceedings of Town Meetings,
Vol. 2, 1814-1848" (manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.)

21. "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 2, 1814-1848"; '"Proceedings of Town Meetings,
Vol. 3, 1848-1872" (manuscript, Pillsbury Memorial Hall, Sutton, N.H.)

22, "Proceedings of Town Meetings, Vol. 3, 1848-1872" pp.1l1, 20, 132, 140

23. Worthen, pp.333-338<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>